
SCRUTINY : SOCIAL SERVICES
3.00 pm TUESDAY, 27TH FEBRUARY, 2018

COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded. 
 

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used for 
training purposes by the Democratic Services Department.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and using 
the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to the 

possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on (01685) 

725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be 
found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations) 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

3. Cwm Taf Violence against Women Domestic 
Abuse and Sexual Violence Strategy 
To consider the attached report 3 - 26

4. Budget update for Scrutiny Committee 
To consider the attached report 27 - 34

5. Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 

6. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions 

7. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting 
To receive an update from the Chair

8. Forward Work Programme 
To consider the attached report 35 - 72

9. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillor:  W R Smith (Chair)

Councillors: D Sammon, G Richards, T Rogers, 
I Thomas and C Tovey

Co-optees: M Elford and B Lewis

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Cwm Taf Violence against Women Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence Strategy

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is a member of the Cwm Taf Violence 
Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (VAWDASV) Steering 
Group, which is the lead partnership taking forward the Cwm Taf regions 
implementation of the Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence (Wales) Act 2015

1.2 The Act requires responsible authorities within a region to develop, in 
collaboration, a regional VAWDASV Strategy by May 2018.

1.3 Due to this requirement Cwm Taf VAWDASV Steering Group have developed a 
Cwm Taf VAWDASV Strategy and Delivery Plan (Appendix 1), which has been 
approved by the Cwm Taf Community Safety Partnership Board.

1.4 The Strategy and Delivery plan are provided to this Social Services Scrutiny 
Group to raise awareness of their existence and of their contents.

1.5 The Strategy and Delivery plan identify the key activities and actions that 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council will be required to participate in, in order 
to fulfil their statutory duties.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 The content of the Strategy and Delivery Plan to be discussed and noted

2.2 That Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council continues to be an active 
participant in the delivery of the regional VAWDASV Strategy.

Date Written 7th February 2018
Report Author Debbie Evans VAWDASV 

Regional Advisor 
Service Area Community Safety 
Committee Date 27th February 2018

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 This report is provided to scrutiny committee for information purposes to ensure 
that Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council are aware of the Cwm Taf 
VAWDASV Strategy and the need to participate in the actions of the Delivery 
Plan.

3.2 The purpose of the Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence (Wales) Act 2015 is to improve the public sector response to such 
violence and abuse.

3.3 The Act intends to: -

 Improve arrangements to promote awareness of, and prevent, protect and 
support victims of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence

 Introduce a needs-based approach to developing strategies which will ensure 
strong strategic direction and strengthened accountability

 Ensure strategic level ownership, through the appointment of a Ministerial 
Adviser who will have a role in advising Welsh Ministers and improving joint 
working amongst agencies across this sector

 Improve consistency, quality and join-up of service provision in Wales.
           

4.0 WHERE WE WERE 

4.1 Prior to the Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 
(Wales) Act 2015 organisations were working together to provide a response to 
VAWDASV across the Cwm Taf region. However, there were no shared 
outcomes or plan for achieving those outcomes. 

4.2 The requirement to develop a Cwm Taf VAWDASV strategy has given the 
region the focus to develop a shared vision, with agreed priorities, objectives 
and outcomes.

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 

5.1 It has been specified by Welsh Government that the regional VAWDASV 
strategies are developed by May 2018.As the Cwm Taf strategy is already 
complete and approved then the VAWDASV Steering Group has achieved the 
task ahead of schedule.

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 

6.1 In respect of developing the Strategy the VAWDASV Steering Group is exactly 
where it needs to be at this point in time.

Page 4



7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

7.1 In the next few months the focus will be upon communication. The Strategy and 
Delivery Plan will be shared with as many organisations and individuals as 
possible with conversations about how organisations can contribute to the 
actions and outcomes of the delivery plan. 

7.2 Implementation will commence in April 2018 and actions will be monitored on a 
quarterly basis in line with the financial quarters.

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES

8.1 The VAWDASV Strategy contributes to the wellbeing objective Developing 
Safer Communities and to the key component tackling violence against 
women and girls.

LISA CURTIS-JONES        COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)                                       CABINET MEMBER FOR

SOCIAL SERVICES

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Cwm Taf 

 Violence against Women,

 Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 

Strategy and Delivery Plan

 2017-21

P
age 7



2

Introduction

This Cwm Taf Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse ,Sexual Violence (VAWDASV) Strategy and Delivery Plan has been developed by 
members of the Cwm Taf VAWDASV Steering Group and outlines how in Cwm Taf ,partner organisations will:- 

 Address their responsibilities as identified by the VAWDASV Act

 Identify how local aims will contribute to the overall objectives of the VAWDASV National Strategy – 

Domestic abuse and sexual violence are a violation of human rights which have a negative impact on individuals, families, communities and 
wider society. Since the introduction of the Welsh Government ‘Right to be Safe Strategy’ in 2010 significant progress has been made across 
Cwm Taf in the development of Domestic Abuse provisions. However despite this progress many people are still at risk across Cwm Taf

The following is a sample of data from Cwm Taf services in 2015-2016

 Between April 2016 - August 2016 a total of 1799 incidence of violence against women were reported to the police

 Between April 2015 - March 2016  5974 individuals were referred to our one stop shops for domestic abuse

 Between April 2015 - March 2016  233 women were accommodated in RCT’s refuges

 Between April 2015 - March  2016 New Pathways had 517 engaging with the service

 Between April 2015 - March 2016  Community Rehabilitation Company dealt with 312 perpetrators of VAWDASV

With the advent of the VAWDASV Act 2015 the challenge for Cwm Taf is to broaden its range of services to encompass violence against women 
and sexual violence in all its forms, without any significant financial investment. Cwm Taf partners also needs to consider how it will move to a 
more preventative and earlier intervention agenda whilst still maintaining the safety of those currently at risk from violence and abuse.

The VAWDASV chapter of the Cwm Taf Social Services and Well -Being population needs assessment identified with strategic leaders, service 
providers and service users some key facts, which could become areas of development for the next few years. These include:-

P
age 8



3

 There are a high volume of incidents of violence reported to SW Police, despite this volume we are aware that many incidents go 
unreported, therefore we are dealing with a small proportion of actual abuse.

 The numbers of people accessing support services are a small proportion of those affected by abuse.

 There is limited support available to low and medium risk victims, this equates to significant unmet need.

 Approximately half of high risk cases referred to local IDVA teams do not engage with the support services.

 Support services across Cwm Taf are not consistent in the way they are provided, or the type of intervention provided.

 A high number of the individuals provided with housing related support were living in either the social or private rented sectors.

 A high proportion of victims provided with emergency accommodation within refuges are from outside Cwm Taf.

 Where the provider declined to provide emergency accommodation, the main reasons were due to chaotic substance misuse or mental 
health.

 There is very little direct support provided to children to combat the impact of domestic abuse or sexual violence within their home 
environment.

 A relatively high number of cases per 10,000 population are referred to MARAC in Cwm Taf.

 BME, LGBT and disabled victims are not being identified through the MARAC process.

 The majority of Violence against Women expenditure by service providers is on support provision.

 Currently there are limited opportunities for service users to be involved in the design and delivery of services.

P
age 9



4

These findings are not at odds with the Welsh Government’s position which recognises that some groups of people will require a more 
specialised approach to service provision.

However the data does need to remain under review so that we capture all that we are currently providing whilst identifying new and 
emerging needs.

Definitions

The Cwm Taf Strategy and Delivery Plan will adopt the definitions utilised in the National Strategy. Therefore violence against women will be 
defined as

All acts of gender-based violence that result in, or are likely to result in, physical, sexual, psychological, or economic harm or suffering to 
women,
Including 

 Threats of such acts,
 Coercion or arbitrary deprivation of liberty, 

Whether 
 Occurring in public or in private life. 

This encompasses, but is not limited to: 

(a) Physical, sexual and psychological violence occurring in the family, including battering, sexual abuse of female children in the household, 
dowry-related violence, marital rape, female genital mutilation and other traditional practices harmful to women, non-spousal violence and 
violence related to exploitation; 

(b) Physical, sexual and psychological violence occurring within the general community, including rape, sexual abuse, sexual harassment and 
intimidation at work, in educational institutions and elsewhere, trafficking in women and forced prostitution; 

(c) Physical, sexual and psychological violence perpetrated or condoned by the State, wherever it occurs. 

P
age 10



5

Whilst the VAWDASV Act covers all forms of gender based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence, this Strategy is informed  by evidence 
that women and girls are disproportionately affected by domestic abuse, rape and sexual violence, sexual exploitation, modern day slavery, 
forced marriage, female genital mutilation, child sexual abuse, stalking and sexual harassment. 

Whilst the Cwm Taf strategy acknowledges the disproportionate experience of women and girls this does not negate the violence and abuse 
directed towards men and boys or violence that may be perpetrated by women.

References in the strategy to “violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence” or “violence and abuse” should be read to 
capture all forms of gender based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence in recognition of the fact that violence and abuse can happen 
in any relationship regardless of sex, age, ethnicity, gender, sexuality, disability, religion or belief, income, geography or lifestyle.

There are a number of terms used to describe individuals who experience VAWDASV these include service user, victim, survivor and client. 
Throughout this strategy the terms will be used interchangeably.

Context

No strategy operates in isolation so this strategy has to take into consideration, Welsh, UK and global legislation that may impact upon this 
area of operation. Some examples of this include:- 

The Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015

The Social Services and Well-Being Act (Wales) 2014

The UK Government Ending Violence against Women and Girls Strategy 2016-2020

NICE guidance – Domestic Abuse Quality Standards – 2016

Council of Europe Convention on preventing and combating violence against women and domestic violence (Istanbul Convention)

P
age 11



6

Purpose
The purpose of the VAWDASV Act and National Strategy is to eliminate violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence 
Through improvements in the 

 Arrangements for the prevention of violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence; 
 Arrangements for the protection of victims of violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence; 
 Arrangements for the support of people affected by violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence. 

Therefore it is upon these themes that Cwm Taf strategy is based and its aims and outcomes derived. This strategy will provide the leadership 
and direction for the way in which services are developed and prioritised in order to achieve the overall Cwm Taf population outcome .As the 
Cwm Taf strategy progresses it will be reviewed against developments in the formation of the national delivery framework.

Population Outcome

The overarching outcome that Cwm Taf VAWDASV Steering group are endeavouring to achieve is 

Individuals who live or work in Cwm Taf, live fear free, in safe, violence free , relationships and communities

All services and provisions across the region will be contributing to this overall outcome

Aims 

Cwm Taf VAWDASV steering group aim to:-

Aim 1: Increase awareness of violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence across the Cwm Taf Population 

Aim 2: Enhance education provision in relation to healthy relationships and gender equality 

Aim 3: Hold perpetrators to account for their actions and support them to change their behaviour 

P
age 12



7

Aim 4: Enable professionals to provide effective, timely and appropriate responses to victims and survivors 

Aim 5: Increase the number of specialist services that are of high quality across the Cwm Taf region

Aim 6: Strengthen collaborative working across the sector to understand and meet the needs of our communities, increasing the sustainability 
and capacity of the sector.

Each of the above aims supports one or more of the identified themes of prevention, protection and support

Prevention

Each aim supporting the prevention theme seeks through education, empowerment and engagement to challenge attitudes and change 
behaviour, thereby either preventing violence or abuse or preventing an escalation of violence and abuse.

Protection

The protection aims are about working together effectively to protect victims from the harm they are currently facing and to prevent them 
facing further suffering; whilst at the same time shielding the children from harm

Support

The supportive aims are about encouraging service to be effective and of high quality, as well as delivering the right service at the right time 
and in the right place.

The actions that Cwm Taf VAWDASV steering group will take forward to address these aims are incorporated into the Cwm Taf VAWDASV 
delivery plan.

Principles

The development and delivery of the Cwm Taf strategy is underpinned by the following principles

P
age 13



8

 Service User Involvement- Cwm Taf VAWDASV Steering Group is committed to the principle that the survivor’s voice and experience is central to 
informing the future development and delivery of legislation, policy, strategy, service design and service evaluation. Consequently the principle of 
service user engagement must be a central pillar in the development of provisions in Cwm Taf. 

 Partnership working – The key mechanism for delivering this strategy will be collaborative partnership working. In order to create 
seamless integrated provisions, organisations should work in new and innovative ways that are over and above their usual operating 
practice. For example the NHS working in collaboration with third sector or substance misuse services working in partnership with 
domestic abuse services, as a single service. Only by doing this will VAWDASV become ‘everyone’s business’.

Sustainability

In the development of its model of service provision the Cwm Taf VAWDASV Steering Group must recognise that sustainable services have to 
be built upon sustainable funding and a commissioning strategy. Consequently representatives from Cwm Taf will work with all their partners 
including Welsh Government to develop a sustainable model of funding for VAWDASV in Cwm Taf.

Monitoring and evaluation

Cwm Taf VAWDASV Steering Group will monitor and evaluate progress against its strategy as a way of being accountable to service users and, 
other stakeholders and will utilise this information to promote continuous improvement. 

 Cwm Taf - VAWDASV Governance Structure.

The diagram below represents the overall partnership governance structure for Cwm Taf organisations. In respect of VAWDASV the steering 
group is accountable directly to the Community Safety Partnership Board. Accountable to the VAWDASV steering group are the MARAC 
Steering Group (Quality Assurance),specific task and finish groups and the Service User Group, which has yet to be developed.

P
age 14



9

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

--
--

--
--

--
-

VAWDASV
Steering 
Group

Quality of Life 
Board

IOM Steering 
Group

Community 
Cohesion 

Board
Contest Board

Cwm Taf 
Safeguarding Board

Cwm Taf Community 
Safety Partnership 

Board

Cwm Taf Area Planning Board
Substance Misuse

Cwm Taf 
Partnership 

Board

Public Services 
Board

Public 
Engagement 

Group

Cwm Taf 
Collaborative 

Partnership Support

MARAC Steering 
Group

P
age 15



10

Key action Action owner Performance 
Indicator

Target date Progress update R A G

Aim 1: Increase awareness of violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence across the Cwm Taf Population 

More people 
are aware of 
violence 
against 
women, 
domestic 
abuse and 
sexual violence

Arrange an event 
to publicise and 
disseminate the 
Cwm Taf 
VAWDASV 
Strategy and 
Delivery Plan

Cwm Taf 
representatives 
to influence the 
category, content 
and target 
audience of 
Welsh 
Government 
campaigns.

VAWDASV 
partner 
organisations 
deliver Welsh 
Government 
campaigns across 

Representatives 
of the 
VAWDASV 
steering group

Representatives 
of the 
VAWDASV 
steering group

All 
organisations 
represented at 
VAWDASV 
steering group

Number of social 
media hits

Number of contacts 
with general public

Year 1

By March 
2018

Years 1-4 as 
campaigns 
become 
available

Years 1-4 as 
campaigns 
become 
available

P
age 16



11

Key action Action owner Performance 
Indicator

Target date Progress update R A G

Cwm Taf

Cwm Taf 
representatives 
to report 
quarterly on 
campaign 
activities

Age profile of 
contacts 

Number of 
campaigns 
delivered

Years 1-4 as 
campaigns 
become 
available

Aim 2: Enhance education provision in relation to healthy relationships and gender equality 

Governors in 
Cwm Taf 
schools are 
more 
knowledgeable 
about healthy 
relationships 
and gender 
equality.

Raise awareness 
of whole 
education 
approach with 
Governors

Undertake 
national training 
framework (NTF) 
groups 1 & 6 with 
Governors.

Claire Hutcheon 
& Sarah Bowen

Number of 
awareness raising 
events with 
governors

Number reporting 
greater awareness

Numbers 
completing e 
learning or other 
group 1 training

Number completing 

Year 1

By march 2018

Year 1

By March 
2018

P
age 17



12

Key action Action owner Performance 
Indicator

Target date Progress update R A G

group 6 training

In Cwm Taf 
schools, staff 
are more 
knowledgeable 
about healthy 
relationships 
and gender 
equality.

Raise awareness 
of whole 
education 
approach with 
schools

Undertake 
national training 
framework (NTF) 
groups 1 - 6 with 
all secondary 
school staff

Claire Hutcheon 
& Sarah Bowen

number of schools 
who are aware of 
the approach

Number of staff 
trained

Group 1 & 6

Group 2 ,3,45

Number reporting 
greater awareness

Year 1

By March 
2018

Year 1-By 
March 2018

Year 2-4

P
age 18



13

Key action Action owner Performance 
Indicator

Target date Progress update R A G

Young people 
in Cwm Taf 
schools are 
more 
knowledgeable 
about healthy 
relationships 
and gender 
equality

Map and analyse 
current 
programme 
delivery in Cwm 
Taf secondary 
schools (also 
college in MT)

Each secondary 
school to report 
on what they 
currently provide

Consultation with 
Youth Forums on 
the approach to 
programme 
delivery and 
content of 
programmes

Schools to 
continue to 
deliver or start to 
deliver 
appropriate 

Claire Hutcheon 
& Sarah Bowen

Numbers of 
sessions provided

Number of young 
people attending

Number reporting 
greater awareness

Year 1

By March 
2018

Year 1-2

Year 1 -4

P
age 19



14

Key action Action owner Performance 
Indicator

Target date Progress update R A G

programmes in 
partnership with  
specialist 
providers

Aim 3: Hold perpetrators to account for their actions and support them to change their behaviour 

More services 
for 
perpetrators 
of VAWDASV 
are provided  

Identify the 
services  that are 
required for 
perpetrators in 
conjunction with 
service providers 
and service users

Secure the 
resources to 
procure the 
services

Develop the 
service design

Commission the 
Service

VAWDASV Task 
Group in 
conjunction 
with 
Collaboration 
Board for 
Transformation 
Fund 

As above

VAWDASV 
Steering Group

Number and type  
of services available 
to perpetrators

Year 1

By March 
2018

Year 2-4 linked 
to service 
model and 
commissioning 
strategy

P
age 20



15

Key action Action owner Performance 
Indicator

Target date Progress update R A G

More 
perpetrators 
change their 
behaviour

Provide the DRIVE 
service for 
perpetrators-.

Provide a DVPP

Services to 
provide a 
quarterly report 
to VAWDASV 
steering group

Nicola 
Mahoney- SMT

Nicola 
Mahoney & 
Cheryl Emery

Number of 
perpetrators who 
attend the DVPP 
voluntarily

Number of clients 
who achieve their 
identified goals

Year 1-4

Year 1-4

Aim 4: Enable professionals to provide effective, timely and appropriate responses to victims and survivors 

Professionals 
are more able 
to identify and 
respond to 
VAWDASV

Raise awareness 
of NTF with CSP 
and PSB to secure 
resources to 
enable full 
implementation 
of NTF

Roll out of NTF 

Paul Mee & 
Steve Peters

identified lead 

Number of 
professionals who 
are offered training

Number of 
professionals who 
attend training 

Number reporting 

Year 1

By March 
2018

Years 1-4

P
age 21



16

Key action Action owner Performance 
Indicator

Target date Progress update R A G

Levels 1-6 across 
all responsible 
authorities and 
VAWDASV service 
providers.

person in each 
responsible 
authority and 
service provider 
organisations

greater awareness

More 
appropriate 
referrals are 
made to 
VAWDASV 
services 

VAWDASV 
Steering Group to 
develop a 
performance 
framework for 
Cwm Taf .

All VAWDASV 
services to 
provide quarterly 
report on 
performance 
indicators 
specified

VAWDASV

Task Group

All VAWDASV 
service 
providers

Total number of 
referrals

Number %age of in 
appropriate 
referrals

Source of referrals

Year 2

Year 2-4

More service 
users are able 
to keep 

Service providers 
report quarterly 
on the specified 

All VAWDASV 
service 

Number of service 
users report that 

Year2-4

P
age 22



17

Key action Action owner Performance 
Indicator

Target date Progress update R A G

themselves 
safe

performance 
outcome 
indicators

Feedback from 
service users

Work with 
Safeguarding 
Board to improve 
the interface 
between 
Safeguarding and 
VAWDASV 
processes and 
services

providers

Safeguarding 
Quality 
Assurance 
Group and 
MARAC 
Steering Group

they feel safer

Year 1-2

Aim 5: Increase the number of services that are of high quality across the Cwm Taf region

More 
consistent 
access to 
services

Develop a Cwm 
Taf model of 
VAWDASV service 
provision that 
integrates the full 
range of 

VAWDASV 
steering 
group/task 
group

Model is developed Year 2

P
age 23



18

Key action Action owner Performance 
Indicator

Target date Progress update R A G

VAWDASV needs 

Develop a Cwm 
Taf VAWDASV 
commissioning 
approach.

Cwm Taf 
VAWDASV group 
to be kept 
informed of the 
Regionalisation 
process for 
SARC’s

Representatives 
of the group 
involved in 
regionalisation 
process

Commissioning 
strategy in place

Regionalised service 
commissioned

Year2-4

Year 2

Better quality 
services

VAWDASV 
steering group to 
develop or adopt 
a set of core 
standards that all 
VAWDASV 
services in Cwm 
Taf should adhere 
to

VAWDASV 
steering group

Core standards in 
place

Year 1

P
age 24



19

Key action Action owner Performance 
Indicator

Target date Progress update R A G

All VAWDASV 
services to 
implement core 
standards

All VAWDASV 
services to report 
on core standards

MARAC Steering 
Group to report 
on data and 
recommendations 
For MARAC 
improvements

VAWDASV 
service 
providers

Chair of MARAC 
Steering Group

Number of 
providers 
implementing core 
standards

Number of services 
who achieve core 
standards.  

Number of 
improvements 
implemented

Year 2-3

Year2-4

Year 1

P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Budget update for Scrutiny Committee 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 Following on from a request from scrutiny committee this report is to provide an 
update on the social services budget and also looking at areas of the budget that 
may overspend. 

1.2 In the past few years social services have been able to contribute to the efficiencies 
programme. We developed a Looked After Children (LAC) Strategy which saw a 
reduction in Children Looked After numbers. We have also worked with finance and 
business support team to consider efficiency savings now and in the future. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 The content of this report to be discussed and noted.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Scrutiny committee members have requested that a report be presented to scrutiny 
looking at the overall Social Services budget and the areas of likely overspend. The 
report highlights the summary statement of the General Fund Revenue Budget for 
2017/18. Also provided is the areas of the budget that are overspending with the 
plans we have in place to try and mitigate this overspend. 

Date Written 14th February 2018
Report Author Lisa Curtis-Jones/Stacey Evans
Service Area Social Services
Committee Date 27th February 2018

Page 27

Agenda Item 4



3.2 Budgets within social care can be unpredictable in the sense of the Looked after 
children rate can change, adults requiring support for their care needs. Safeguarding 
adults and children will always be a priority and these costs cannot be avoided. We 
will endeavour to support children, families and adults within the community and their 
own homes where possible but in some cases this is not possible.

4.0 WHERE WE WERE 

4.1 We continue to face financial pressures and been working hard to achieve savings 
the Council needs whilst doing our best to ensure that the services we provide to you 
are not adversely affected. On the whole last year we have managed to achieve this.

4.2 We have used the Integrated Care Fund over the past year to plan and develop 
projects working across the region which will directly impact the public and provide 
better services. This funding has allowed the development of new initiatives like the 
stay well @ home service, which will reduce the delayed transfers of care from 
hospital and have better outcomes for the population of Cwm Taf.

4.3 In the past two years there has been investment in the regional adoption team and in 
the enhanced child in need service, which we hope the latter will continue to have a 
positive impact on our looked after population.

4.4 The anti-poverty steering group was set up to review and monitor the various grants 
that are available in Merthyr Tydfil, with a view to looking at the cross cutting themes 
between the grants and ensuring no duplication of service. Also looking at ways to 
improve preventative work with a view to decreasing the impact on statutory services 
where possible.

4.5 A lot of our work is undertaken on a collaborative and regional basis which assists 
with cost pressures and assists with resilience of services.

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 

5.1 General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18 (As at 30th December 2017)

People and Performance Directorate

Social Services

Page 28



Summary Statement

31-Dec-17  Outturn Year End
Summary Budget 

17/18
Month 9 Projection Variance

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 %

Day Services Business Case -117 0 0 117 -100.00
Outsourcing (Group Home) 
Business Case

-30 0 0 30 -100.00

 
Social Services
Business Support 135 92 129 -6 -4.44
Social Care Services and 
Recharges

344 141 355 11 3.20

Duty, IAA & ACT Compliance 125 47 128 3 2.40
Early Intervention and Assistance 
Services

201 251 201 0 0.00

Social Services Collaborative 
Partnerships

1,305 313 1,280 -25 -1.92

 
Adult Social Services
Adult Social Care 340 160 346 7 1.76
Assessment & Care Management 
Services

1,097 797 1,094 -3 -0.27

Initial Support Services 1,220 890 1,222 2 0.16
Supported and Accommodation 
Services

2,603 2,007 2,781 178 6.83

Day Care Services 1,426 1,008 1,422 -4 -0.28
Independent External Care 
Provision

10,554 6,930 10,302 -252 -2.39

 
Children Social Services
Children's Social Care 204 95 204 0 0.00
Children with Disabilities 749 522 742 -7 -0.93
Children Looked After 5,641 3,790 5,927 286 5.07
Intake & Family Support Services 2,668 1,965 2,792 124 4.60
Youth Justice Services 0 13 0 0 0.00
 
Safeguarding 624 457 654 30 4.81
 
Total 29,089 19,478 29,579 491 1.69

Page 29



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18 (As at 30th December 2017)
People and Performance Directorate
Social Services

Current major Overspends

Overspend Description Value
£’000

Day Service Business Case 
Learning Disability Day Opportunities Business case (Gross £117k 
full year) budgeted to be achieved by 1st April 2017.  Business case 
approval delayed. 

£117

Outsourcing (Group Home) Business Case 
Group Home Business case (Gross £30k full year) budgeted to be 
achieved by 1st April 2017.  Business case not approved. £30

Supported and Accommodation Services - MTCBC Homes for 
the Elderly
Southern Home: the current outturn projection is reflecting:
Income –a projected additional -£18k of income. 
Expenditure – a projected underspend of -£6k across, all premises 
and supplies & services related expenditure
Salaries – a projected overspend of £19k across all employment 
costs, including all direct replacement costs
Northern Home:  the current outturn projection is reflecting:
Income –a projected loss of £70k of income. 
Expenditure – a projected underspend of -£2k across, all premises 
and supplies & services related expenditure
Salaries – a projected overspend of £109k across all employment 
costs, including all direct replacement costs

£172

Independent External Care Provision - Independent Domiciliary 
Care
MTFP was set for 2,860 delivery hours per week; the current outturn 
projection is reflecting actual service demand at an average of 3,247 
hours per week.

£49

Children Looked After - Residential Placement Services
MTFP was set for 6 children (4 were known and in placement, 2 new 
service demand) at an average cost of £165,540 per year.
Within the current outturn projection there are 9 children (4 still 
ongoing as known within the MTFP and 5 new) at an average cost of 
£152,270 per year.

£377

Intake & Family Support Services – SGO and Residence Orders 
(Support Other Than Looked After)
MTFP was set for 92 children (91 were known and in placement, 1 
new service demand) at an average cost of £6,390 per year.
Within the current outturn projection there are 108 children (77 still 
ongoing as known within the MTFP and 31 new) at an average cost 
of £6,070 per 

£67

Page 30



6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 

6.1 Social services wish to maintain a balanced budget by the end of the financial year. 
There are plans in place to look at the overspends and meeting regularly with 
Finance officers to discuss this.

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

7.1 General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18 (As at 30th December 2017)
People and Performance Directorate
Social Services

Overspend Description Value
£’000

Day Service Business Case 

In the past 18 months Price Waterhouse Cooper (PWC) were our 
strategic partner in Merthyr Tydfil reviewing possible efficiencies in 
the future budgets. This was a PWC initiative as it was suggested 
that by reducing hours in day care could make savings of £117k. This 
saving was not made and was challenged and has now has been 
built back into budget next year as there has been a realisation that 
this saving is unrealistic at this time. However we are currently 
carrying out a day care review to look at the service as a whole.

£117

Outsourcing (Group Home) Business Case 
£30k was taken out of budget this year based on outsourcing one of 
the units. (We had previously outsourced Park View and Glendere 
and Lysfaen was next to consider) In reality from what we've learnt 
from others this would not save us money but cost more therefore we 
will not be progressing with this proposal as wouldn’t be cost 
effective. Again this has been built back into the budget next year.

£30

Supported and Accommodation Services - MTCBC Homes for 
the Elderly

Southern home – This unit has a balanced budget.
Northern Home – Showing an overspend due to use of agency staff 
and overtime payments. The Northern home consists of four 8 bed 
units. One unit has been temporarily closed as not enough residents 
to fill, so the 32 capacity is now down to 24 and 23 of these beds are 
filled currently. Staffing ratios are being looked at and ways of doing 
rotas being considered re working patterns. Discussions taking place 
with staff and unions. Steps are being taken regards staffing (reduce 
agency and overtime) to lower the overspend. Budgets realigned 
where possible to ensure realistic position. Income expectation been 
reduced. So by end of financial year 18/19 there should be a 
balanced outturn.

£172

Independent External Care Provision - Independent Domiciliary 
Care £49

Page 31



There are significant pressures keeping people in the community 
longer – residential requirement dropping and domicillary care 
increasing as people staying in community longer. This overspend 
also affected by the living wage increasing. 

Independent External Care Provision budget line regards supported 
placements currently showing an underspend which will offset this 
and we will maximise grant income to assist this. Extra £10 million 
given to local authorities across Wales for winter pressures – Merthyr 
will get £189k (The criteria for this monies is to fund domiciliary care 
packages, care and repair services for minor home adaptations and 
equipment to facilitate discharge and maintain independence, short 
term residential care and use of step down beds to facilitate both 
discharge and transition from hospital to home.)

Children Looked After - Residential Placement Services
MTFP was set for 6 children (4 were known and in placement, 2 new 
service demand) at an average cost of £165,540 per year.
Within the current outturn projection there are 9 children (4 still 
ongoing as known within the MTFP and 5 new) at an average cost of 
£152,270 per year.

Although overall LAC numbers have decreased over the years, the 
complexity of cases has intensified and there has been an increase in 
numbers of young people requiring residential placements across 
Wales. As a result of this pressure on LAC, growth was requested for 
2018/19. This has been agreed.

£377

Intake & Family Support Services – SGO and Residence Orders 
(Support Other Than Looked After)
MTFP was set for 92 children (91 were known and in placement, 1 
new service demand) at an average cost of £6,390 per year.
Within the current outturn projection there are 108 children (77 still 
ongoing as known within the MTFP and 31 new) at an average cost 
of £6,070 per year.

Currently there is an underspend in the fostering budget of £54k due 
to children in foster placements being reduced. This will assist the 
overspend in this area.

£67

7.2 Regular meetings have been set up with social care management and finance 
officers to discuss the budget position and how we can ensure a balanced budget 
moving forward. Budget Board meets monthly and challenges officers when there 
are areas of overspend. 

Page 32



LISA CURTIS-JONES
DIRECTOR OF SOCIAL SERVICES

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
CABINET MEMBER SOCIAL SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Scrutiny Committee Work Programme

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting.

1.2 To remind scrutiny committee members that they need to consider the requirements 
of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 The Committee notes the content of this report

2.2 The Committee considers its work programme and approves, revises or amends it 
as deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions at 3.2 in planning for the next 
meeting.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
3.1 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda. 

3.2 At each meeting the committee will agree the agenda items for their next meeting 
and in preparation may in advance wish to ask itself the following questions.

Date Written 20th February 2018
Report Author Scrutiny Section
Service Area Legal & Governance Services
Committee Division Scrutiny 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 27th February 2018

Page 35

Agenda Item 8



Q) Why has the item been placed on a scrutiny work programme?
a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s Wellbeing 

Objectives and priorities?
b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns?
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest?
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications?
e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes?
f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources?

Q) What is the specific role of the committee?
           This will depend on the item – for example the role could be:

a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 
department

b. to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose
c. to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 

major issue 
d. to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 

investigation / review
e. to explore possible solutions to an issue

Q) What outcome is the committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item?

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council 

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes.
c. To receive an overview presentation.
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work. 

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives / other plan / other strategy.

g. Improvement in service delivery

Q) What information does the committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome? 
What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions.

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information?
Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Health Board etc

Q) Does the committee need to ask for written representations?
The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 

Page 36



will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting. 

Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend?
Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 
You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 
community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc.

The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the Act)

3.3 The Act applied the wellbeing duty on local authorities. This duty means this Council 
has to work towards its wellbeing goals and is required to publish its Statement of 
Wellbeing, which sets out our local wellbeing objectives for the community over the 
next five years. 

The Authority’s “wellbeing objectives” seek to secure sustained improvements in the 
economic, social, cultural and environmental wellbeing of the people who live and 
work in Merthyr Tydfil, now and in the future. The focus is on supporting people when 
they need it most and equipping them with the skills they need to lead fulfilled lives.

In brief, the wellbeing objectives for Merthyr Tydfil cover four main groups:

Best Start to Life (Reported to Learning & LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee)
 BS1 Children get the best start to life. 
 BS2 Children and young people are equipped with the skills they need to be 

successful learners and confident individuals.

Working Life (Reported to Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee)
 WL1 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the 

future. 
 WL2 Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish.

Environmental Wellbeing (Reported to Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny 
Committee)

 EW1 Communities protect - enhance and promote our natural environment 
and countryside 

 EW2 Communities protect - develop and promote our heritage and cultural 
assets.

Living Well (reported to Social Services Scrutiny Committee)
 LW1 Developing safer communities. 
 LW2 People have good physical and mental wellbeing. 
 LW3 People live independently.

Page 37



3.4 The Act places a legal duty on public bodies to adopt the “sustainable development 
principle” when setting wellbeing objectives, and in taking steps to meet those 
objectives. 

Any reference to a public body doing something “in accordance with the sustainable 
development principle” means that the body must act in a manner which seeks to 
ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of 
future generations to meet their own needs.

In the Act, the sustainable development principle is exemplified by the five ways of 
working i.e. there are five things that public bodies need to think about to show that 
they have applied the sustainable development principle. Following these ways of 
working will help us work together better, avoid repeating past mistakes and tackle 
some of the long term challenges we are facing. These “5 things” (ways of working) 
are shown below:-

1. Long term - The importance of balancing short-term needs with the need to 
safeguard the ability to also meet long-term needs (taking account of both 
short term and long term needs when making decisions.) 

2. Prevention - How acting to prevent problems occurring or getting worse may 
help public bodies meet their objectives (stop problems happening or getting 
worse)

3. Integration - Considering how the public body’s well-being objectives may 
impact upon each of the well-being goals, on their other objectives, or on the 
objectives of other public bodies (making sure that the objectives set by the 
council contribute to the wellbeing goals and there is an understanding of how 
they impact on other organisations work to meet the goals). There needs to be 
connections within the council, between departments, between cabinet 
members Who else within this organisation do we need to talk to; to avoid 
wasted effort, duplication. What other pieces of legislation may affect, inform, 
impinge upon what we are seeking to address?

4. Collaboration - Acting in collaboration with any other person (or different 
parts of the body itself) that could help the body to meet its well-being 
objectives (working with people inside and outside the council to meet your 
objectives when working towards the goals).

5. Involvement - The importance of involving people with an interest in 
achieving the wellbeing goals, and ensuring that those people reflect the 
diversity of the area which the body serves (make sure that everyone who has 
an interest or expertise in or is affected by achieving the goals are involved or 
represented).

3.5 Much of Scrutiny committee activity is aligned to the delivery of the wellbeing 
objectives and each scrutiny committee will be receiving regular performance reports 
on these areas. See APPENDIX I, which provides further details on this Authority’s 
wellbeing objectives.

Page 38



3.6 Scrutinising under the Act. The Act says that we have to dramatically change the 
way we do things. Not changing what we do but changing the way that we do it. This 
is difficult as many public sector organisations are entrenched in their approaches, in 
their activities and in their attitudes. In all scrutiny work members will need to 
consider the Act!

1. Applying the principles of the Act -  Scrutiny committees will have a 
responsibility to ensure that the principles of the Act are applied to policy and 
decision making in Merthyr

2. Contributing to the setting of the Wellbeing Objectives and the Well Being 
statement.

3. Monitoring progress against the Objectives and seeing if they are being 
met. 

4. Scrutiny of the PSB  - strategic and focussed on the work of the PSB as a 
whole (not its constituent members) either an existing scrutiny committee or a 
new one

5. By ensuring that the ways of working are followed in Merthyr Tydfil when 
undertaking 

 Pre-decision scrutiny (involvement of community in the decision making 
process?); 

 Policy development (how will this policy impact in people in 2030,40,50 
years?); 

 Performance monitoring (are there problems that can be prevented? 
Could performance be improved if we work with someone else?); and

 Investigative scrutiny (work with people who have an interest in the 
subject).

3.7 At APPENDIX II there is a copy of a letter and “Future Generations Framework for 
service design” from the Future Generations Commissioner for Wales, which 
describes what the five ways of working mean in practice for service design, setting 
out a series of questions to consider alongside four key concepts:

1. Delivering an integrated service with partners in the best interest of the people 
accessing the service.

2. Starting from what people can do, not what they can’t, and involving them in 
decision-making as an equal partner.

3. Ensuring people can access the service they need, when they need it and 
only for as long as they need it.

4. Always learning, positively challenging and aiming to improve. 

There are a set of questions that Scrutiny Committees can use / adapt to challenge 
Portfolio Members / Officers as part of scrutiny’s role in ensuring that the principles of 
the Act are applied to policy and decision making in Merthyr Tydfil.

Page 39



3.8 A copy of the Committees work programme is also attached.

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Statement of Wellbeing 28th June 2017 MTCBC Internet

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 40

http://mtcbcelecreg:9070/documents/s36089/Committee%20Report.pdf


BS Best Start to Life

4. BS 1: Children get the best start to life3

Children, have a positive early experience to ensure they are ready to learn, ready for 
school and have good life chances.

4.1. What happens to children in their earliest years is key to outcomes in adult life.  This is 
now supported by a wide range of research evidence from education, health, justice and 
economic experts.  This wellbeing objective is about giving our children the best start in 
life, to set them off on a path that leads to positive outcomes later in life.

4.2. Improving early years support is also crucial in tackling the root causes of adverse 
childhood experiences, which we know have a detrimental impact on future health and 
wellbeing.  We define early years as pre-birth to 7 years old.  This broad definition of early 
years recognises the importance of pregnancy in influencing outcomes and that the 
transition into primary school is a critical period in children’s lives.

4.3. Parents and carers have a crucial role in creating a home environment that nurtures early 
development and addresses barriers to learning that particularly affect less advantaged 
children and young people.  Parents in Merthyr Tydfil recognise they have a shared 
responsibility with schools to help their children develop skills, but a lack of confidence in 
their abilities can prevent some from doing so.

4.4. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to meeting the 
wellbeing needs of young children.  Such needs should be interpreted broadly and 
encompass play, learning, social relationships and emotional, physical and mental 
wellbeing.  While this approach is important for all children, it will particularly benefit 
children who face disadvantage or have a high risk of poor outcomes later in life.  The key 
components to support positive development in the early years include:

 Children having a nurturing and stimulating home environment
 Children having access to high quality pre-school and school education
 Helping mothers to have good maternal health
 Helping parents and carers with literacy and numeracy to enhance their ability to 

support their children’s learning

4.5. The risks of poorer outcomes for children and families are strongly correlated to 
underlying factors, mainly poverty and lack of parental skills and knowledge as well as 
education.  Wider stresses on parents and families such as substance misuse, debt, poor 
housing and lack of employment can also affect the quality of early years' experience and 
therefore impact on development.

3 This wellbeing objective recognises the right of all young children to high quality relationships, environments and 
services and will contribute strongly to promoting and upholding children’s rights as defined by the UN 
Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC).

Page 41

jonesh1
Typewritten Text

jonesh1_1
Typewritten Text
                    APPENDIX I

jonesh1_2
Typewritten Text



BS Best Start to Life

4.6. The best start to life has to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives which address 
these underlying factors, particularly:

 Children and young people are equipped with the skills they need be successful 
learners and confident individuals

 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the future
 People have good physical and mental health

Page 42

jonesh1_3
Typewritten Text



BS Best Start to Life

5. BS 2: Children and young people are equipped with the skills they 
need to be successful learners and confident individuals

Children and young people, develop the knowledge, skills and attributes they will need to 
flourish in life, learning and work.

5.1. This objective is the next step on from the early years and continues the principle of 
valuing the wider benefits that learning can bring to the individual, to society and 
communities and to the economy.  It is part of a framework to show how all the constituent 
parts of our education and learning systems can contribute to giving Merthyr Tydfil a skills 
base that will improve economic, cultural, social and environmental wellbeing.

5.2. A young person’s education, from the early years through their compulsory education, lays 
the foundations of skills for life and work.  What they learn and the skills they acquire will 
help them improve their own lives.  Education has become one of the clearest indicators 
of life outcomes, such as employment, income and social status, and is a predictor of 
attitudes and wellbeing.

5.3. Wellbeing is strongly linked to attainment.  Research evidence shows that there is value 
for schools to promote health and wellbeing among pupils.  This can range from effective 
social and emotional competencies, the culture ethos and environment of a school and 
opportunities for pupils to be physically active.  Pupils with better health and wellbeing are 
more likely to be ready to learn and achieve better academically.

5.4. This wellbeing objective has at its core the promotion of equality of opportunity.  Equipping 
children and young people with the skills they need includes the following key 
components:

 Schools equipping pupils with high levels of literacy, numeracy and ICT skills
 Schools equipping pupils with social and emotional skills
 Schools supporting physical activity of pupils
 Youth services involving young people and enhancing their knowledge and skills

5.5. This objective has to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives which address the 
wider factors that influence family life:

 Children get the best start to life
 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the future
 People have good physical and mental health

Page 43



WL Working Life

6. WL 1: Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce 
of the future

Highly skilled and qualified people are supported by a local economy that makes full and 
productive use of these skills; where our employers, demand, value and make best use of 
their workforce's skills.

6.1. "Too often, people's experiences of trying to get out of poverty tell a story of barriers and 
traps, rather than routes out"4.  This echoes the challenges experienced by unemployed 
people in Cwm Taf, who spoke of insufficient employment opportunities and numerous 
barriers to employment, particularly the lack of useful support or guidance.

6.2. A key challenge in Merthyr Tydfil is to help people develop their resources (skills, 
knowledge etc.) and tackle the barriers they experience so they can become the 
workforce of the future.  The focus of this wellbeing objective will be on the work we do 
within our communities to improve their skill level of the workforce.

6.3. Research shows that people who report no educational qualifications are more likely to be 
in relatively low income and people who are not in employment with no qualification are 
more likely to be economically inactive.  This is important because a comparatively high 
proportion of people in Merthyr Tydfil do not have any qualifications; we need to improve 
employability skills for those without jobs.  The key components to support the 
development of the future workforce include:

 People having employment opportunities
 People having the basic skills to access learning and training programmes
 People having the skills and qualifications that are suitable for employers' changing 

needs

6.4. The risk of poorer outcomes for people with low or no skills are strongly linked with the 
likelihood they are in lower paid work; experiencing in-work poverty and having lower 
resilience when dealing with issues or problems.  Evidence also shows poorer mental and 
physical health outcomes are often experienced by those with low or no skills.

6.5. Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil has to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives 
which address these underlying factors, particularly:

 Children get the best start to life

4 JRF (2016) Monitoring Poverty and Social Exclusion 2016, Joseph Rowntree Foundation

Page 44



WL Working Life

7. WL 2: Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses 
to flourish

Development that integrates regeneration with sustainable urban design improves the 
built environment and strengthens the natural environment.

7.1. The built and natural environment can have a strong effect on people's behaviour and 
opportunities and a significant impact on their wellbeing, particularly by where they live 
and work.  The focus of this wellbeing objective is the work we do in our communities to 
develop the environment and infrastructure that allows the growth of communities and a 
resilient local economy.

7.2. There is evidence to suggest that a well-managed urban environment and high quality 
local services are important to create conditions that are attractive to business investors, 
visitors and local residents alike.  Development that is sustainable can help build 
resilience and capacity in adapting to climate change, ensuring town centres and 
communities are attractive, viable and better protected.

7.3. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to environmental and 
infrastructure development needs in Merthyr Tydfil.  Such needs should be interpreted 
broadly to include renewable and low carbon energy, sustainable transport, diverse 
housing, education, retail, green infrastructure including biodiverse open spaces.  Access 
to high quality local services, amenities and safer communities can attract inward 
investment, increase visitor spend and help grow the local economy.  The key 
components to support the development of the environment and infrastructure include:

 People having access to flexible, integrated and sustainable transport options
 Parents and carers having flexible childcare options
 Suitable previously developed land that delivers a diverse supply of housing
 Promoting and supporting the use of renewable and low carbon energy
 Strengthening and diversifying the rural economy

7.4. Flooding and extreme weather events which damage assets and disrupt business 
operations pose the greatest risk to Welsh businesses now and in the future.  Evidence 
shows that high quality, sustainable and inclusive design can mitigate the predicted 
effects of climate change.

7.5. Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses to flourish has to work 
alongside our other wellbeing objectives, particularly:

 Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and countryside
 Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets

Page 45



EW Environmental Wellbeing

8. EW 1: Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural 
environment and countryside5

People, proud of the area’s outstanding landscape, regularly spend time outdoors in good 
quality, accessible greenspace.  Communities help improve their local areas, learning new 
skills, building strong social bonds and helping wildlife flourish.

8.1. The focus of this wellbeing objective is the work we do with our communities to protect, 
enhance and promote the natural environment and countryside.  This is because research 
shows that a healthy natural environment and countryside provides multiple benefits for 
people and wildlife from improved air, water and land quality, habitat protection and 
enhanced biodiversity to beneficial implications for physical and mental health.

8.2. How we act toward the natural environment and countryside will be a critical factor of a 
sustainable future in Merthyr Tydfil because the benefits of improving our natural 
environment will be felt across all of our wellbeing objectives.  We define the natural 
environment and countryside as all greenspace within the local authority boundary.  This 
broad definition of the natural environment and countryside recognises its importance of 
nature in both rural and urban environments.

8.3. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to meeting the 
environmental wellbeing needs in Merthyr Tydfil.  Those needs should be interpreted 
broadly to include quality greenspace and connectivity, habitat protection and biodiversity, 
resilient ecosystems, landscape character and pollution prevention.  While this approach 
is important for the environment as a whole, it will particularly benefit areas where there 
are key environmental issues or risks.  The key components for communities to protect, 
enhance and promote our natural environment and countryside include:

 Integration of landscape protection, management and planning
 Minimise environmental damage through prevention of pollution
 Maximise efficient use of materials and resources by means of the waste hierarchy
 Developing good quality and connected green infrastructure and open spaces

8.4. A degraded environment means our residents, communities and businesses will have a 
lower resilience to environmental risks.  As the environment is an underlying factor and 
influencer to many other wellbeing objectives, the risks presented by degraded 
environment also include a range of economic, social, health, community safety and 
cultural perspectives.

5 The Environment (Wales) Act 2016 requires the Council to seek to maintain and enhance biodiversity and 
promote the resilience of ecosystems taking into account diversity between and within ecosystems; the 
connections between and within ecosystems; the scale of ecosystems; the condition of ecosystems (including 
their structure and functioning) and the adaptability of ecosystems.

Page 46



EW Environmental Wellbeing

8.5. Communities protect, enhance and promote the natural environment and countryside has 
to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives to address these underlying factors, 
particularly:

 Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses to flourish
 Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets
 People have good physical and mental health

Page 47



EW Environmental Wellbeing

9. EW 2: Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and 
cultural assets

Celebrating success, valuing our heritage, culture and language will strengthen our 
identity for future generations.

9.1. The focus of this wellbeing objective is to use existing community assets to deliver wealth 
and health benefits for the people of Merthyr Tydfil.  There is a strong argument to 
suggest valuing our heritage, culture and language can bring improvements to the 
wellbeing of individuals and communities.  

9.2. The distinctiveness of Merthyr Tydfil has been shaped by our industrial past and the 
different communities who make Merthyr Tydfil their home.  How we work with these 
communities will be a critical factor in delivering on the vast potential that Merthyr Tydfil’s 
heritage and cultural assets offer us.

9.3. When local people talk about culture, it is often described as an opportunity for 
celebration.  Where this culture is celebrated varies from historic buildings brought back 
into use such as the Redhouse, Soar and Dowlais Engine House to modern venues such 
as the many rugby clubs, community centres and the refurbished Merthyr Tydfil football 
club.  The regeneration of the town centre has provided an additional asset for hosting 
cultural activities that brings people together including Merthyr Rising, Merthyr by the sea, 
Awesome Chilli Festival.

9.4. Cyfarthfa Park was regularly referred to as something good in the community during our 
engagement activities.  How people use the park varies from walking, foraging, fishing and 
landscape painting to attending events such as open air theatre, concerts and firework 
displays.  Whatever the use, the impact on people’s sense of wellbeing was commonly 
endorsed. 

9.5. Community groups that bring people together were also acknowledged as something 
good by those taking part in our engagement activities.  There was a sense that the 
tradition of community groups was enjoying resurgence as the focus on wellbeing 
develops.  Making social connections with other people is directly correlated with 
improvements in physical and mental wellbeing and can help combat the growth in social 
isolation and loneliness experienced by many different people living in the community.

9.6. Using our landscape and history to encourage people to be more physically active is a 
great way to improve wellbeing.  Cyfarthfa provides the backdrop for the annual Wales 
Valleys Walking Festival, which showcases Merthyr Tydfil’s history and natural beauty 
combined with walking.

9.7. In addition to health and wellbeing benefits our heritage and culture can help bolster the 
prosperity of the county borough by attracting visitors and tourists which supports inward 
investment, provides employment and offers opportunities to develop new skills.  In 

Page 48



EW Environmental Wellbeing

addition research shows that being able to speak, read and write Welsh can be an 
advantage for people seeking a job in Wales.

9.8. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to meeting the cultural 
wellbeing needs in Merthyr Tydfil.  Those needs should be interpreted broadly and 
encompass tourism, destination management, conservation and preservation of assets 
and language, local events and community participation.  The key components for 
communities to protect, develop and promote our heritage and culture include:

 Supporting existing community facilities and community led developments
 Supporting suitable tourism, leisure and recreation developments
 Promoting cultural and social activities within our communities
 Promoting the use of the Welsh language

9.9. Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets has to work 
alongside our other wellbeing objectives, particularly:

 Children get the best start to life
 Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses to flourish
 Developing safer communities

Page 49



LW Living Well

10. LW 1: Developing safer communities

People, living in connected communities, feel safe where they live, work or spend their 
leisure time.

10.1. Feeling safe influences how people value their community, and is important to people’s 
quality of life, often making the difference between people wanting to live and stay in their 
neighbourhood or not.  There is evidence to suggest that building confidence and 
resilience in individuals and communities is an important step towards improving 
wellbeing.  Where healthier and happier people are more likely to positively contribute to 
their communities and society.

10.2. Community safety covers many aspects of life; however, there is no commonly agreed 
definition of community safety or clarity on the range of services and activities that 
contribute to its delivery.  We define safer communities from a social perspective as 
communities that are free from crime, victims of crime or those living in fear of crime.  This 
definition allows us to focus on the social aspects of safety that adversely affect the quality 
of life and wellbeing of people.

10.3. The focus of this wellbeing objective is the work we do to develop safer communities, 
including keeping our children and adults safe and free from harm, creating a place where 
people value their neighbours and community.  The key components for developing safer 
communities include:

 Safeguarding vulnerable children and adults who are at risk of harm
 Tackling the harm caused by the misuse of drugs and alcohol
 Tackling violence against women and girls
 Offender management (young people through to adults)
 Anti-Social Behaviour
 Community cohesion

10.4. Developing safer communities will need to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives, 
particularly:

 Children get the best start to life
 Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets
 People have good physical and mental wellbeing
 People live independently

10.5. In the wider environmental context of safe communities, our wellbeing objectives provide a 
focus on the elements needed for people and communities to develop and maintain a 
clean and biodiverse environment, well lit, free from graffiti, litter and fly-tipping:

 Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish
 Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and countryside

Page 50



LW Living Well

11. LW 2: People have good physical and mental health

People, adopting healthy behaviours earlier in their life, are heathier, feel good and 
function well.

11.1. There are many predictors of wellbeing and this objective focuses on two of them, 
physical health and mental health.  The link between physical health and mental health is 
incontrovertible.  Either one will have effects on the other.  Poor physical health can lead 
to poor mental health and the other way round.  Just as good physical health can improve 
our state of mind, a strong and healthy mind can greatly improve our ability to cope with 
physical ailments.

11.2. Research shows that levels of subjective wellbeing vary across the life course, dipping in 
the mid teenage years, at midlife, and again among the oldest of the old.  The perception 
of general health remains one of the strongest predictors of subjective wellbeing in adults 
and people who are physically active are more likely to have improved general and mental 
health.  

11.3. There is a growing body of evidence that indicates nature provides added value to the 
known benefits of physical activity.  Locally people have told us they have a strong 
association between the outdoors and wellbeing.  However, people also shared their 
concerns on the quality, accessibility and awareness of greenspace, in both urban areas 
and the wider countryside.

11.4. The focus of this wellbeing objective is to motivate and support people and communities 
to develop positive physical and mental health behaviours.  Adopting these behaviours 
early in life will help us to ensure long term and sustainable benefits for the physical and 
mental wellbeing needs of the people in Merthyr Tydfil. 

11.5. To ensure a holistic approach to meeting this objective, physical and mental health needs 
should be interpreted broadly and encompass the family and neighbourhood, school and 
teenage years, having a good job, home and positive social relationships.  The key 
components for people have good physical and mental wellbeing include:

 Promoting healthy behaviours from a young age
 Tackling adverse childhood experiences
 Increasing levels of physical activity

11.6. People have good physical and mental health has to work alongside all other wellbeing 
objectives.

Page 51



LW Living Well

12. LW 3: People live independently6

People, empowered to live independently within their communities, have the appropriate 
support, advice and assistance to meet their personal needs, live safely and access 
opportunities available to them.

12.1. The focus of this objective is to help people with particular support needs to live 
independent and well lives in their communities for longer.  The type of support required to 
promote greater independence and wellbeing will differ for diverse groups in the 
community.  

12.2. For disabled people (of all ages) this objective is about removing the barriers that prevent 
the full participation in all aspects of society and promoting the rights and full inclusion of 
disabled people.  Research evidence from the Office of Disability Issues suggests that 
independent living provides significantly more benefits at an individual level than 
conventional forms of service provision.  At service delivery level, benefits include the 
reduced costs in the delivery of independent support mechanisms.

12.3. For older people this objective is about addressing the care and support needs required to 
remain in their own homes, and developing local capacity within communities so people 
can connect with others and become more involved in community and public life.  There is 
evidence that older people living locally wish to remain living in their homes as long as 
possible.  Alongside tangible benefits in promoting wellbeing linked to choice and control 
and other aspects of maximising independent living for older people, there is also a 
lessening reliance on institutional forms of service provision leading to reduced costs.

12.4. Our engagement with people locally which has identified key factors to support people to 
live independently include:

 Clearly and accessibly communicate sources of advice, assistance and support
 Gather the views of service users to inform planning and service delivery
 Services that provide people with the ability to live in their own home
 Better access to quality services and facilities to support a fairer society for people with 

protected characteristics

12.5. Ensuring that people can live independent lives for longer requires wider societal changes 
to create the necessary conditions to ensure the success of this objective.  To create 
these changes, people to live independently has to work alongside our other wellbeing 
objectives, particularly:

 Children get the best start to life
 Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish
 Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets

6 This wellbeing objective contributes to the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (UNCRPD), 
which includes Article 19: the right to independent living.

Page 52



LW Living Well

 Developing safer communities

12.6. In the wider context of people living independent lives our other wellbeing objectives focus 
on the elements needed for people and communities to become more self-sufficient 
particularly:

 Children and young people are equipped with the skills they need to be successful 
learners and confident individuals

 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the future

Page 53



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  Lisa Mytton                     PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  David Hughes 

WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Steve Jones   PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  Geraint Thomas     PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  Howard Barrett    WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Carys Kennedy 

CHIEF OFFICER:  Sue Walker    WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Mark Thomas     WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Mark Anderton    CHIEF OFFICER:  Lisa Curtis-Jones 

PROJECT LEADS:       CHIEF OFFICER:  Alyn Owen      CHIEF OFFICER:  Cheryllee Evans     PROJECT LEADS: 

- Sarah Bowen (Education)    PROJECT LEADS        PROJECT LEADS:        -  Paul Lewis (Licensing & Trading Standards) 

- Joe Colsey (Education)     -  Deb Ryan-Newton (Employability Service)     -  Steve Thomas (Environmental Services)    -  Ryan Evans  (Community Safety)  

- Annabel Lloyd (Children’s Services)     -  Chris Long (Community Regeneration)     -  Mick Campbell (Property & Estates    -  Julie Beck  (Safer Merthyr Tydfil) 

- Chris Hole (Anti-Poverty & Wellbeing)            -  Susan Gow (Environmental Health)    - Gary Black (RCT County Borough Council) 

OTHER CONTRIBUTORS              OTHER CONTRIBUTORS      OTHER CONTRIBUTORS 

       -       John Sellwood (Leisure & Culture)             -  Paul Jones (Environmental Services)    -  Sarah Bowen (Education) 

      -      Steve Peters (Public Protection)             -  Paul Davies (Environmental Services)    -  Annabel Lloyd (Children’s Services) 

 

                  

 

 

PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  David Hughes 

                        WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Judith Jones 

PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  Lisa Mytton    PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  Geraint Thomas     PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  Howard Barrett    CHIEF OFFICER:  Lisa Curtis-Jones 

WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Steve Peters   WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Annabel Lloyd     WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Chris Hole    PROJECT LEADS:  

CHIEF OFFICER:  Sue Walker    CHIEF OFFICER:  Alyn Owen      CHIEF OFFICER:  Alyn Owen      -  John Sellwood (Corporate Services) 

PROJECT LEAD      PROJECT LEADS        PROJECT LEADS   

- Sue Walker (Education):     -  Chris Long (Community Regeneration)     - Chris Long (Community Regeneration) 

- Annabel Lloyd (Children’s Service)    -  Cheryl Jones (Rights of Way)      - Zoe Thomas  (Physical Regeneration) 

- Joe Colsey (Education)     -  Rhian Prosser (Town Centre Manager)     - Rhian Prosser (Town Centre Manager)  

- Sarah Bowen (Education)     -  Chris Hole (Anti-Poverty & Wellbeing)     - Kerry O’Donovan (Corporate Risk & Equalities)  PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  David Hughes 

- John Sellwood (Leisure & Culture)   OTHER CONTRIBUTORS       OTHER CONTRIBUTORS      WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Anthony Lewis 

OTHER CONTRIBUTORS      -  Sarah Bowen  (Education)      - Sarah Bowen (Education)     CHIEF OFFICER:  Lisa Curtis-Jones 

       -       Chris Hole (Anti-Poverty & Wellbeing)   -  Judith Jones (Planning)       - Ryan Barry (Tourism & Social Enterprise)   PROJECT LEADS 

               -  Lisa Williams-Clement (Highways & Engineering)            -  Angela Edevane (Adult Services) 

                 -  Suzanne Lewis-Abbott (Supporting People)  

                         -  Gareth Kedward (MIA) 

                                        -   Kerry O’Donovan (Corporate Risk & Equalities) 

OTHER CONTRIBUTORS      

  -  Steve Peters (Public Protection) 

 

 

 

 

CWM TAF PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD WELLBEING PLAN 

 

Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community 

 

BEST START 
 

WORKING LIFE 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL WELLBEING 

 

LIVING WELL 

 

BEST START 1: 

Children have the best start to life 

 

BEST START 2: 

Children and young people are equipped with 

the skills they need to be successful learners and 

confident individuals 

UPDATE REPORTS PRESENTED TO LEARNING & 

LAESCYP SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

All objectives present an update report to the Governance Scrutiny Committee once annually 

 

WORKING LIFE 1: 

Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the 

Workforce of the Future 

 

WORKING LIFE 2: 

Developing the environment and infrastructure for 

business to flourish 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL WELLBEING 1: 

Communities protect, enhance and promote our 

natural environment and countryside 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL WELLBEING 2: 

Communities protect, develop and promote our 

heritage and cultural assets 

 

LIVING WELL 1: 

Developing safer communities 

 

LIVING WELL 2: 

People have good Physical and Mental Health 

 

LIVING WELL 3: 

People live independently 

UPDATE REPORTS PRESENTED TO 

REGENERATION & PUBLIC PROTECTION 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

UPDATE REPORTS PRESENTED TO 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES, PLANNING & 

COUNTRSYIDE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

UPDATE REPORTS PRESENTED TO 

REGENERATION & PUBLIC PROTECTION 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

Version 1 (November 2017) 

P
age 54



 

   

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Mark.Drakeford@llyw.cymru                 
Correspondence.Mark.Drakeford@gov.wales 

 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 

in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.  

 
 
 
 
Eich cyf/Your ref  

Ein cyf/Our ref  
 
  

 
January 2018 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Dear Colleague 
 

Our offices have been working together to develop a practical tool to help people working in 
public services to apply the Well-being of Future Generations Act ways of working to the 
design and delivery of services. 
 
The tool provides a guide for public bodies to think through what the five ways of working 
mean in practice for services, setting out a series of questions to stimulate structured 
discussions and enable organisations to make decisions about how they work.  We 
recognise that considering the ways of working throughout the design and delivery of 
services will, for many public bodies, involve a radical change of working practices. 
 
The tool has been developed by a cross-public service leadership group, and tested with 
practitioners representing a full range of public services.  Early findings indicate it will be 
helpful in a range of ways, from planning a new service; reviewing an existing service; or 
articulating (and sharing) good practice which is already happening.   
 
The tool is designed to be used flexibly, and adapted according to the particular 
circumstances being explored.  This is an offer to use such tools, rather than an expectation 
- it is for you to decide if it will be of assistance to you, how you use it, and who to involve. 
 
The tool is attached and is also available online.  Our officials would be happy to discuss 
this in more detail, provide support for using the tool, and would be pleased to hear 

Page 55

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Mark.Drakeford@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Mark.Drakeford@gov.wales
jonesh1_4
Text Box
                   APPENDIX II



experiences of using it in practice so it can be refined and made most useful to you.  We are 
keen this should continue to be developed through use.   
 

There are a number of other tools in development that aim to support you in using the Act 
as a framework for thinking in different contexts. In particular, colleagues will also be writing 
to you about a ‘Future Generations Framework for projects’, which has been designed to 
assist public bodies to use the five ways of working and maximise contribution to the seven 
national well-being goals when designing, developing and reviewing projects.  The 
Framework for projects can be accessed from:   

https://futuregenerations.wales/documents/future-generations-framework/ 
 
 
Please contact Katharine Cannan (katharine.cannan@gov.wales) or Heledd Morgan 
(Heledd.Morgan@futuregenerations.wales) to discuss further. 
 
 
 

     
 

Sophie Howe 

 
 
 

Sophie Howe 
Comisiynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol Cymru 
Future Generations Commissioner for Wales 

Mark Drakeford AM/AC 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Gyllid  
Cabinet Secretary for Finance 
 

 

Page 56

https://futuregenerations.wales/documents/future-generations-framework/


Future Generations Framework  
for service design
This simple framework is a tool to help people working in public services to apply the 
Well-being of Future Generations Act ways of working to service design.P

age 57



2

The Well-being of Future Generations Act provides the basis for 
driving a different kind of public service in Wales, with five ways 
of working to guide how public services should work to deliver for 
people:  

• Long term: the importance of balancing short-term needs with 
the need to safeguard the ability to also meet long term needs.

• Prevention: how acting to prevent problems occurring or getting 
worse may help public bodies meet their objectives.

• Integration: considering how public bodies’ well-being objectives 
may impact upon each of the well-being goals, on their other 
objectives, or on the objectives of other public bodies.

• Collaboration: acting in collaboration with any other person (or 
different parts of the body itself) that could help the body meet 
its well-being objectives.

• Involvement: the importance of involving people with an 
interest in achieving the well-being goals, and ensuring that 
those people reflect the diversity of the area which the body 
serves.

The framework on the following pages describes what the five 
ways of working mean in practice for service design, setting out a 
series of questions to consider alongside four key concepts:

• Delivering an integrated service with partners in the best 
interest of the people accessing the service.

• Starting from what people can do, not what they can’t, and 
involving them in decision-making as an equal partner.

• Ensuring people can access the service they need, when they 
need it and only for as long as they need it.

• Always learning, positively challenging and aiming to improve.

The framework can be used by those who design and oversee 
provision of services to prompt thought, have structured 
discussions, and make decisions, about new ways of working to 
ensure services are resilient and are seeking to improve the 
well-being of people now and in the future.

Making the connections: thinking about how your service 
contributes to your organisation’s well-being objectives and public 
services board’s well-being plan:

• How does the service address issues identified in the assessment 
of local well-being of the area?

• How does the service impact on, or support, the well-being 
objectives of your organisation?

• Do you understand how your service impacts on, or supports, the 
delivery of the local well-being plan of the public services board?

    © Crown copyright 2018       WG33869     Digital ISBN 978-1-78903-395-3

P
age 58



3

            Long term: the importance of balancing short-term needs with the need to safeguard the ability to also meet long term needs

What this means for 
service design

Questions to consider

Always learning, 
positively challenging 
and aiming to improve

• Have you identified and considered the long term trends that might affect your service area, what impact 
these trends could have on your service/your service could have on these trends, and what is being done 
in response? (These might be known e.g. an ageing population, depleting natural resources, or those 
with higher uncertainty e.g. jobs and skills needed for the future.)

• Is a range of evidence (including people’s stories and other data) captured to test effectiveness of the 
service (now and for the future) in a meaningful way? 

• What are the challenges (current and future) the service faces and how might they be overcome? Is the 
service seeking opportunities to learn from best practice elsewhere and joining up with networks which 
can facilitate shared learning?

• What are the opportunities available to the service provider and how can they make best use of them?
• Does the service try out innovative solutions to delivery aimed at the most effective outcomes, learn from 

them and move forward? 

Ensuring people can 
access the service they 
need, when they need 
it and only for as long 
as they need it

• Does the service provider understand (and predict) how demand could change over time and work with 
partners to more effectively understand it? 

• Is the service treating the immediate need or symptom, without tackling the root causes?  If so, are the 
long term implications of taking this approach understood? 

• Is there appropriate critical assessment of need; is professional judgement and evidence informing the 
response? 

• Does the service provider understand and assess whether intervening will lead to longer term better 
outcomes than not intervening at all?

P
age 59



4

What this means for 
service design

Questions to consider

Delivering an 
integrated service with 
partners in the best 
interest of the people 
accessing the service

• Is the service reliant on other interventions being in place to address the causes of long term cycles?

Starting from what 
people can do, not 
what they can’t and 
involving them in 
decision making as an 
equal partner

• Does the service provider understand what matters to people, their strengths and the strengths of wider 
communities in which they live – now, and how that might change in future? 

P
age 60



5

    Prevention: how acting to prevent problems occurring or getting worse may help public bodies meet their objectives

What this means for 
service design

Questions to consider

Ensuring people can 
access the service they 
need, when they need 
it and only for as long 
as they need it

• Does service delivery have a suitably strong focus on preventing problems occurring or getting worse, 
breaking the cycle and helping people to avoid crisis rather than supporting people in crisis? 

• Do you understand what issues you are seeking to prevent? What are the root causes, how could these be 
avoided/remedied? How early can the service intervene and how can the service provider build resilience? 

• Are you working with people to bring down (or end) the level of intervention in people’s lives over time 
wherever possible, with the flexibility to adapt to changing circumstances?

Starting from what 
people can do, not 
what they can’t and 
involving them in 
decision making as an 
equal partner

• Does the service help people towards independent living rather than creating dependency? 
• Do you have flexibility to ensure the intervention fits the needs and circumstances of the citizen and 

avoids harm? 

Always learning, 
positively challenging 
and aiming to improve

• Does the service consider how it can minimise/resolve negative impacts and have most beneficial impacts 
across economic, environmental, social and cultural well-being? 

P
age 61



6

     Integration: considering how the public body’s well-being objectives may impact upon each of the well-being goals,  
on their other objectives, or on the objectives of other public bodies

What this means for 
service design

Questions to consider

Delivering an 
integrated service with 
partners in the best 
interest of the people 
accessing the service

• Is delivery viewed by partners as part of a ‘whole system’ which reflects users’ full pathway through 
different services? 

• Has the service provider considered how the service is impacting on other public bodies (positively or 
negatively)?

• Is there understanding of collective responsibility for outcomes across services, with services aligned to 
avoid unintended harm? 

• What practical steps can the service provider take to integrate the service with the existing plans and 
strategies of its own or other public bodies, to maximise the service’s contribution towards each of the 
seven well-being goals?

Always learning, 
positively challenging 
and aiming to improve

• Can the service demonstrate continuous improvement from regular reflection and critical review? 
• Is there a framework and proportionate process in place for collective performance assessment, including 

from a citizen’s perspective, and do you have accountability arrangements to support this? 
• Could there be potential conflicts in service delivery with other services or public bodies, and how might 

you seek to resolve, manage and mitigate these?

P
age 62



7

     Collaboration: acting in collaboration with any other person (or different parts of the body itself) that could help the  
body meet its well-being objectives

Delivering an 
integrated service with 
partners in the best 
interest of the people 
accessing the service

• Are partners working together in a flexible way, across organisational boundaries, to deliver a seamless 
service to people? 

• Have you identified a full range of partners, including organisations from private or third sectors, who 
could play a productive role in this service area?

• Does the service provider think about (and predict) how demand could change over time and work with 
partners to more effectively manage it?

• Is there equity, trust and a shared vision between partners? 
• Are there reciprocal arrangements across public services (e.g. shared resources, shared budgets)?

Always learning, 
positively challenging 
and aiming to improve

• Is best practice shared to reduce cross sector variation where it is appropriate to do so?
• Is success celebrated – both within the service and across partners?

P
age 63



8

     Involvement: the importance of involving people with an interest in achieving the well-being goals, and ensuring that those 
people reflect the diversity of the area which the body serves

Starting from what 
people can do, not 
what they can’t and 
involving them in 
decision making as an 
equal partner

• Do you understand what matters to service users, their strengths, and the strengths of wider communities 
in which they live? How is this used to inform the need for the service and how it is delivered?

• Is the service seeking to harness and build on a service user’s strengths? 
• Does the service encourage people to take responsibility for themselves and their own improvements?  
• Are service users involved in reaching decisions that affect them? 
• Is the service considering the support that might be available from others in the community? 
• Is service delivery tailored for individual service users, recognising that individuals will have differing 

capacity to respond?

Delivering an 
integrated service with 
partners in the best 
interest of the people 
accessing the service

• Is the system designed through an understanding of how citizens engage with public services and the 
outcomes they are looking for?

• Has the service been designed from the perspective of the service user, through involving them and 
reflecting the diversity of the potential users of the service?

Ensuring people can 
access the service they 
need, when they need 
it and only for as long 
as they need it

• Are people being encouraged to manage without intervention, where appropriate?
• Is the service working with citizens to explain the role of different partners in delivering the service, and 

managing expectations?

Always learning, 
positively challenging 
and aiming to improve

• Are services and service users working as partners in the business of improvement?

P
age 64



Social Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Committee
Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet 

Member
Scrutiny Focus 

Welsh Community 
Care Information 
System (WCCIS)

Lisa Curtis Jones / Anne 
Powell

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  A new computer system is being 
introduced in Wales to help health and social care 
professionals work together to provide care closer to people’s 
homes. It gives community nurses, mental health teams, social 
workers and therapists the digital tools they need to work 
better together. The committee to receive an update on the 
system and how it is being imbedded at MTCBC.

Children’s Services 
Strategy Update

Annabelle Lloyd Scrutiny & Challenge:-  The Head of Children’s Services will 
provide an update on the strategies applicable to Children’s 
Social Services

CSSIW Annual Letter Lisa Curtis Jones Scrutiny & Challenge:-  To advise members of CSSIW Annual 
letter.  The CSSIW undertake an annual evaluation and review 
of Local Authority social services and provide overall 
judgements on key areas of progress and areas for 
improvement.

25th July 2017

Develop the Annual 
Scrutiny Work 

Programme

Full Committee The Committee to develop work programme for 2017/18.

19th September 2017

Wellbeing Objective
Living Well (LW1)

Item withdrawn

Cllr David Hughes, Lisa 
Curtis Jones and 

appropriate Officers

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a 
report on a wellbeing objective.  The scrutiny report will 
outline the context, current position and provide the most up 
to date performance and project information to enable the 
Scrutiny Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps 
taken to meet our wellbeing objectives.

P
age 65



Social Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Annual Report
(ACRF)

LCJ, AL, MA, LM Scrutiny & Challenge:-  Annual Council Reporting Framework. 
The Director of Social Services annual statutory report to 
Welsh Government

Adult Services Strategy 
Update

(item withdrawn)

Mark Anderton Scrutiny & Challenge:-  The Head of Adult Services will provide 
an update on the strategies applicable to Children’s Social 
Services

Merthyr Tydfil Youth 
Offending Team (YOT)

LCJ, AL, Jason O’Brien 
(RCTCBC)

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  To discuss the CSSIW Inspection 
report.  The YOT is a multi-agency team which is made up of 
members of the Police, Probation, Health, Education, 
Substance Misuse and Social Services, as well as others specific 
to the team. The YOT deals with young people between the 
ages of 10 and 18 who are involved in the criminal justice 
system, and those who are just on the periphery of becoming 
involved in the system.

Wellbeing Objective
Living Well (LW2)

Cllr David Hughes, Lisa 
Curtis Jones and 

appropriate Officers

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a 
report on a wellbeing objective.  The scrutiny report will 
outline the context, current position and provide the most up 
to date performance and project information to enable the 
Scrutiny Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps 
taken to meet our wellbeing objectives.

7th November 2017
Wellbeing Objective

Living Well (LW1)
Cllr David Hughes, Lisa 

Curtis Jones and 
appropriate Officers

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a 
report on a wellbeing objective.  The scrutiny report will 
outline the context, current position and provide the most up 
to date performance and project information to enable the 
Scrutiny Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps 
taken to meet our wellbeing objectives.

P
age 66



Social Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Looked After Children 
Strategy Update

Annabel Lloyd/ Cllr David 
Hughes

Monitoring, Scrutiny & Challenge: A quarterly update on 
progress implementing the LAC strategy and the associated 
risks, issues and challenges. The strategy is seeking a reduction 
in the number of LAC and CPR over the next few years

CTSAB/CTSCB Annual 
Reports 

Nicola Kingham and 
officers and  Cllr David 
Hughes

Scrutiny & Challenge:-   These separate reports summarises 
the work undertaken by the CTSCB and the CTSAB to achieve 
its objectives during the year. They also summarise the areas 
of development identified.

Community Zone Lisa Curtis Jones / Chris 
Hole

Scrutiny & Challenge:-   Community Zones is a place based 
approach focussing support to improve outcomes for residents 
with the greatest challenges.  The Committee requires an 
update i.e. how the zones are progressing; what challenges are 
being faced; and what performance indicators have been 
developed. 

Wellbeing Objective
Living Well (LW3)

Cllr David Hughes, Lisa 
Curtis Jones and 
appropriate Officers

Scrutiny & Challenge:-
The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on a wellbeing 
objective.  The scrutiny report will outline the context, current 
position and provide the most up to date performance and 
project information to enable the Scrutiny Committee to 
discuss and challenge on the steps taken to meet our 
wellbeing objectives.12th December 2017

Regional Adoption 
Annual Report

AL/ Angela Harris & Rachel 
Evans (Vale of Glamorgan

Monitoring & Scrutiny: An update  and some early 
performance information  in relation to our regional adoption 
collaborative 

P
age 67



Social Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Communities First Lisa Curtis Jones Scrutiny & Challenge: - Communities First is a community 
focussed tackling poverty programme, which is being phased 
out by March 2018. An update is required on outstanding 
projects and how the Authority and Partners are winding up 
the programme.

Social Services 
Caseloads (Children’s 

Services)

Annabelle Lloyd Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Committee has asked the Head of 
Children’s Services for a report about Social Worker caseloads.

NEETS Strategy 2018 -
2021

(report in 12/12 file)

Chris Hole Scrutiny & Challenge: To Inform the Scrutiny Committee of the 
Not in Education, Employment or Training Strategy (2018-21) 
and the progress that has been made against this agenda in 
line with the previous strategy.  The NEETS Strategy identifies 
some critical areas to be progressed if the authority is to 
continue its progress

Wellbeing Objective
Living Well (LW1)

Cllr David Hughes, Lisa 
Curtis Jones and 

appropriate Officers

Scrutiny & Challenge:-The Scrutiny Committee will receive a 
report on a wellbeing objective.  The scrutiny report will 
outline the context, current position and provide the most up 
to date performance and project information to enable the 
Scrutiny Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps 
taken to meet our wellbeing objectives.

Cwm Taff Integrated 
Family Support Team 

Annual report.

AL/  Goulding, Jay (RCT) Scrutiny & Challenge:- An Annual Report on progress within 
the Cwm Taf IFST and the wider implementation.

23rd January 2018

Adult Services Strategy 
Update

(Moved from 19th 
September)

Mark Anderton Scrutiny & Challenge:-  The Head of Adult Services will provide 
an update on the strategies applicable to Children’s Social 
Services

P
age 68



Social Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Wellbeing Objective
Living Well (LW2)

Cllr David Hughes, Lisa 
Curtis Jones and 

appropriate Officers

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a 
report on a wellbeing objective.  The scrutiny report will 
outline the context, current position and provide the most up 
to date performance and project information to enable the 
Scrutiny Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps 
taken to meet our wellbeing objectives.

Budget update Stacey Evans/LCJ/Cllr 
Hughes

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Update on budget and looking at areas 
that may overspend.27th February 2018

Cwm Taf Strategy and 
Action Plan for 

Violence against 
Women, Domestic 
Abuse and Sexual 

Violence
(email AL 14/11)

A Lloyd/LCJ/Cllr Hughes / 
Deborah Evans 

(de@smt.org.uk) / Steve 
Peters

Scrutiny & Challenge: - to comment and challenge on the 
strategy and associated action plan.

Wellbeing Objective
Living Well (LW3)

Cllr David Hughes, Lisa 
Curtis Jones and 

appropriate Officers

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a 
report on a wellbeing objective.  The scrutiny report will 
outline the context, current position and provide the most up 
to date performance and project information to enable the 
Scrutiny Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps 
taken to meet our wellbeing objectives.

10th April 2018
CTSAB/CTSCB Annual 

Plans 
Nicola Kingham Scrutiny & Challenge:-  These separate reports summarises 

the work undertaken by the CTSCB and the CTSAB to achieve 
its objectives. They also summarise the areas of development 
identified.

P
age 69

mailto:de@smt.org.uk


Social Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Merthyr Tydfil Youth 
Offending Team (YOT)

LCJ, AL, Jason O’Brien 
(RCTCBC)

Monitoring, Scrutiny & Challenge:-  This item was discussed at 
the 19th September 2017 meeting. To discuss the CSSIW 
Inspection report action plan.  The Committee requires a 
report providing details of the work done to address the action 
plan as shown to the Committee at the 19th September 
meeting. To monitor progress. 

The YOT is a multi-agency team which is made up of members 
of the Police, Probation, Health, Education, Substance Misuse 
and Social Services, as well as others specific to the team. The 
YOT deals with young people between the ages of 10 and 18 
who are involved in the criminal justice system, and those who 
are just on the periphery of becoming involved in the system.

Annual report – Social 
Services Complaints, 
Representations and 

Compliments 

LCJ, Jonathan Strong / Cllr 
D Hughes

Monitoring, Scrutiny & Challenge:-  Local Authorities are 
required by the Social Services Complaints Procedure (Wales) 
Regulations 2014 and the Representations Procedure (Wales) 
Regulations 2014 to produce an Annual Report about the 
operation of their Social Services Complaints, Representations 
and Compliments policy and procedures

Refugee Settlement in 
Merthyr Tydfil

SP/LCJ
To be confirmed

Syrian refugee settlement programme. The Committee has 
learned of a family that had settled in Merthyr Tydfil as part of 
the programme but due to issues with the property that was 
allocated to them (private rented), the family eventually left 
Merthyr Tydfil to resettle in London. The committee wish to 
set up a T&F Group to review matters to see what lessons 
were learned and would the Authority take the same approach 
in future. (see email SP 21/4/17)

For consideration on 
work programme - To 
be confirmed

Recommendations 
made by external 

Review of
Corporate

Scrutiny, Challenge and Monitor: R6 Improve accountability 
for corporate safeguarding by regularly reporting safeguarding 

P
age 70

https://www.wao.gov.uk/system/files/publications/365A2015_safeguarding_english_final.pdf
https://www.wao.gov.uk/system/files/publications/365A2015_safeguarding_english_final.pdf


Social Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

regulators (WAO, 
CSSIW, ESTYN, WG 

Commissioners etc.). 

Safeguarding 
Arrangements in
Welsh Councils
(July 2015)
and included in MTCBC 
Annual Improvement 
report 2015/16 (July 2016)

issues and assurances to scrutiny committee(s) against a 
balanced and council-wide set of performance information 
covering: • benchmarking and comparisons with others; • 
conclusions of internal and external audit/inspection reviews; 
• service-based performance data; • key personnel data such 
as safeguarding training, and DBS recruitment checks; and • 
the performance of contractors and commissioned services on 
compliance with council safeguarding responsibilities.

Community Zone Chris Hole Scrutiny, Challenge and Monitor: A Children’s Zone is a place 
based approach, bringing together different organisations to 
improve outcomes for children and young people. The aim is 
that through a shared strategic vision, long-term sustainable 
reductions are achieved in the inequalities experienced by 
children in disadvantaged communities when compared to 
those in more socially advantaged areas. 

Development of Drug 
Litter reporting “App”

(Flymapper)

Julian Pike Scrutiny, Challenge and Monitor: Following meeting on 23rd 
January the Committee require an update on this matter. How 
is it working, what effect has it had. An update.

P
age 71

https://www.wao.gov.uk/system/files/publications/365A2015_safeguarding_english_final.pdf
https://www.wao.gov.uk/system/files/publications/365A2015_safeguarding_english_final.pdf
https://www.wao.gov.uk/system/files/publications/365A2015_safeguarding_english_final.pdf


T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Cwm Taf Violence against Women Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Strategy
	Cwm Taf VAWDASV Strategy   Delivery Plan 2017-20 V7.docx

	4 Budget update for Scrutiny Committee
	8 Forward Work Programme
	APPENDIX I Statement of Wellbeing July 2017
	APPENDIX II FGC Wales Questions
	Jan 18 - let - Eng -pdf
	33869 Future Generations Framework for Service Design_English_FINAL WEB

	5 Social Services




